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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We have two

          3  Committees that were supposed to start at the same

          4  time and sometimes it's easier to work if they're in

          5  rooms right next to each other, not right across the

          6  street.  So, I had to wait for the other Hearing to

          7  begin before I could come over here to this

          8  building, which is, I guess, City Council West, I

          9  guess, would be this building, right? Yes, City

         10  Council West.

         11                 Are we ready Sergeant?  Israel, are

         12  we ready to go?  Okay.  Good afternoon.  Once again,

         13  sorry for the delay. I'm Councilman Jim Gennaro,

         14  Chairman of the Council's Committee on Environmental

         15  Protection.  I welcome you all to this Hearing on

         16  two proposed bills, Intros. 18 and 23.  I've offered

         17  these bills because I believe both will spur efforts

         18  to make sure that we have efficient, clean energy

         19  use in the City, and, as an added benefit, both

         20  bills will help increase the reliability of our

         21  City's power supply and clean the air we breathe.

         22                 Intro. 18.  Intro. 18 would require

         23  the City to survey its buildings to determine

         24  whether clean on- site generation would be

         25  appropriate for these buildings.  By clean on- site
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          2  generation, this bill is referring to combined heat

          3  and power, solar and wind power, fuel cells and

          4  microturbines and other clean power technologies

          5  that can be deployed at the site of consumption.

          6                 Clean on- site generation offers many

          7  benefits to the City of New York, including

          8  improving the reliability of our power supply,

          9  enhancing energy efficiency, promoting renewable

         10  sources of energy and reducing emissions of global

         11  warming pollution and other air pollutants.

         12                 In fact, it is because of these

         13  benefits that the Mayor's Energy Policy Task Force

         14  Report, under the section entitled:  New York City,

         15  Leading by Example, that was one of the sections of

         16  that report, recommending that the City conduct a

         17  survey of the its facilities for potential

         18  application of on-site generation.  Intro. 18 fully

         19  embodies this recommendation and, critically, I

         20  believe its passage would play an important role in

         21  helping to, so to speak, jump-start the development

         22  and implementation of clean on-site generation

         23  projects by the City, as well as the private sector.

         24                 Let's talk a little bit about Intro.

         25  23.  Intro. 23 would require the City to develop and
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          2  implement a program to commission City-owned

          3  buildings or, in other words, make sure that these

          4  buildings and their system perform as efficiently

          5  and effectively as possible.  In this bill,

          6  commissioning also includes retro-commissioning,

          7  which is the process of optimizing the performance

          8  of existing buildings, most of which have never gone

          9  through any type of commissioning and, therefore,

         10  are often performing well below their potential.

         11                 Intro. 23 also requires the City to

         12  develop and implement a program to train facility

         13  managers, building engineers and others to perform

         14  routine commissioning activities, such as including

         15  energy- efficient heating, ventilation and cooling

         16  systems, reducing the loads on the electric systems,

         17  upgrading building systems to make them more energy-

         18  efficient and incorporating energy- efficiency into

         19  planning processes and maintenance practices.

         20                 Again, the Mayor' Energy Policy Task

         21  Force Report's section entitled: New York City,

         22  Leading by Example, recommended that the City

         23  develop both an energy- efficiency training program

         24  for managers and engineers of City- owned buildings

         25  and a commissioning program for City- owned
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          2  facilities.

          3                 So as with Intro. 18, Intro. 23

          4  closely mirrors the recommendations of the Mayor's

          5  Energy Policy Task Force.  I guess you've got to be

          6  careful about what reports you release, because

          7  legislators may look at them and develop bills based

          8  on them, which, I guess, is part of why we do these

          9  reports in the first place.

         10                 I believe that this legislation, by

         11  promoting efficiency in a very cost- effective way,

         12  offers substantial energy and dollar savings to the

         13  City, as well as the means of significantly

         14  improving the quality of our air and reducing our

         15  emissions of global warming pollution.

         16                 Combined, the two bills we'll hear

         17  today, Intros. 23 and 18, seek to continue the

         18  Council's extensive efforts to make New York City a

         19  true leader on the environment by making sure that

         20  our City's environment and City government are the

         21  greenest that they can be.  So, we look forward to

         22  hearing from the Administration, as well as various

         23  advocates and other witnesses, as we seek to move

         24  this legislation forward.

         25                 So, that concludes my opening
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          2  statement.  I just want to recognize some of the

          3  Members of the Committee that we have here.  We have

          4  Council Member Koppell from the Bronx, Council

          5  Member Vallone from Queens, Council Member Stewart

          6  from Brooklyn and I'm very grateful to have my

          7  Members here in attendance today.

          8                 We're also joined by the Counsel to

          9  the Committee, Donna De Costanzo, the Policy

         10  Analyst, Dan Avery and my own Chief of Staff, Peter

         11  Washburn, who makes such a great contribution to

         12  this Committee.  We already have the witnesses

         13  seated, Donald Brosen, am I saying that right?

         14  Donald Brosen, Deputy Commissioner for Fiscal

         15  Management and Operations of the Department of

         16  Citywide Administrative Services, Susan Cohen,

         17  Executive Director of Evaluation and Energy, also

         18  from DCAS.

         19                 So, we're very grateful that the

         20  Administration is here to talk about this important

         21  legislation.  We thank you for being patient as I

         22  was doing the Committee two- step shuffle or

         23  whatever it is.  Donna De Costanzo, the Counsel to

         24  the Committee, will give you the oath and then,

         25  after which, you can provide your statement.  Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

          4  your right hand.  In the testimony that you are

          5  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

          6  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Yes.

          8                 MS. COHEN:  Yes.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Mr. Chairman

         11    --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, Council

         13  Member Koppell --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  --  Let me

         15  say  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Wishes to

         17  be acknowledged.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  --  That I

         19  share the same Committee membership as you, so I now

         20  have to go across the street and check in and

         21  participate there.

         22                 I will try and return, if possible,

         23  but let me say I'm quite sympathetic to the

         24  intention of these bills and I hope you can

         25  certainly add my name as a sponsor, if it's not
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          2  already there, and I look forward, if I can't get

          3  back to you, to getting a report on the Hearing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          5  Thank you Council Member Koppell.  Please.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Good

          7  afternoon Chairman  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, you have to

          9  speak right into the microphone and make sure it's

         10  on.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Okay,

         12  there we go. Good afternoon Chairman Gennaro and

         13  Members of the Committee on Environmental

         14  Protection.  I am Donald Brosen, Deputy Commissioner

         15  for Fiscal Management and Operations at the New York

         16  City Department of Citywide Administrative Services

         17  and on behalf of Commissioner Martha Hirst, thank

         18  you for this opportunity to testify before the

         19  Committee regarding Introductions 18 and 23 of 2006.

         20                 I am pleased to be here to discuss

         21  distributed generation and building

         22  retro-commissioning in the pursuit of developing

         23  efficient ways to reach common goals of energy

         24  conservation and getting the most of our, out of our

         25  utility infrastructure.
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          2                 Section 811 of the New York City

          3  Charter tasks DCAS with the provision of energy

          4  services to City agencies. Pursuant to that

          5  requirement, the DCAS Office of Energy Conservation,

          6  OEC, develops and manages the City's energy budget

          7  in coordination with the Office of Management and

          8  Budget.

          9                 OEC holds the electricity, gas and

         10  steam accounts for most City government facilities

         11  and coordinates energy conservation policies and

         12  programs for City agencies.  We manage energy

         13  accounts for 80 agencies and more than 4,000

         14  buildings, including all Mayoral agencies, the

         15  Health and Hospitals Corporation, the City

         16  University of New York and three library system and

         17  many cultural institutions.  OEC also collects and

         18  monitors energy cost and usage data for City

         19  facilities.

         20                 As I mentioned, OEC promotes energy

         21  conservation and savings among City agencies.  We

         22  work with agency Energy Liaison Officers to share

         23  usage data and discuss strategies to promote and,

         24  promote efficiency.  We also hold a contract with

         25  the New York Power Authority, the City's electricity
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          2  provider, through which we can coordinate a variety

          3  of energy efficiency and clean energy technology

          4  projects that make sense from an energy cost

          5  perspective, meet agency facility needs and are

          6  approved, and are approved for funding.

          7                 With respect to clean distributed

          8  generation, OEC has supported projects in 15

          9  locations; 13 of those locations are operational and

         10  two more are in design and construction.  These

         11  clean distributed generation projects include

         12  natural gas fired and anaerobic digester gas fired

         13  fuel cells, rooftop solar photovoltaics and building

         14  integrated photovoltaic, photovoltaics.

         15  Additionally, through the OEC, the City funds a

         16  cogeneration plant at the Wildlife Conservation

         17  Society Bronx Zoo.  A list of these sites is

         18  attached to my testimony.

         19                 In general, many conditions have to

         20  be met for clean distributed generation to be part

         21  of a least cost energy supply portfolio at a

         22  facility site.  These include threshold electricity,

         23  heat and space requirements, adequate fuel supply

         24  conditions and the condition of current heating

         25  systems, as well as the technical considerations on
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          2  the utility side that require consideration.  These

          3  projects require a considerable amount of space and

          4  the appropriate energy source and often entail a

          5  cost premium that only makes sense when broader

          6  capital planning needs are taken into account.

          7                 One successful clean distributed

          8  generation project is the City's fuel cell at the

          9  Central Park Police Precinct, which uses natural gas

         10  to generate electricity and kept its lights running

         11  during the 2003 blackout.  The electricity generated

         12  has a considerable cost premium of 27 cents per

         13  kilowatt hour compared to 11 cents over conventional

         14  electricity. But, having the fuel cell enabled the

         15  precinct to avoid having to install potentially

         16  costly underground electric lines.  Without those

         17  avoided costs, the project would have not been

         18  financially feasible.

         19                 Introduction 18.  As currently

         20  proposed, Introduction 18 mandates a survey for all

         21  City- owned facilities for the purpose of

         22  determining the appropriateness of clean on site

         23  generation.  As I have mentioned, because not all

         24  types of buildings are suitable for these projects,

         25  it is our belief that it is neither practical, cost-
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          2  effective, nor necessary to survey all City- owned

          3  buildings.

          4                 We do support the concept of

          5  identifying City facilities or groups of facilities

          6  that meet certain threshold conditions for

          7  consideration of distributed generation projects and

          8  would welcome working with the Council to develop

          9  those criteria and processes in this piece of

         10  legislation.

         11                 With respect to building

         12  commissioning and related training, as called for in

         13  Introduction 23, we would likewise state that

         14  commissioning is a process to be applied in

         15  particular circumstances, not across the board at

         16  all City facilities. Commissioning and

         17  retro-commissioning are, in effect, audit processes

         18  designed to ensure that building systems operate and

         19  interact at optimal levels.  Both commissioning of

         20  new facilities and retro-commissioning, which

         21  targets existing buildings, are most applicable to

         22  larger buildings that have relatively complex HVAC

         23  systems and other systems that need to work

         24  together.

         25                 With regard to the commissioning of
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          2  new buildings, we believe Local Law 86 and the

          3  related use of the United States Green Building

          4  Council's LEED criteria provide a structure for

          5  commissioning, where appropriate, and new

          6  legislation is not needed in this area.

          7                 In terms of retro-commissioning

          8  projects, we believe a pilot program to

          9  retro-commission a number of carefully screened

         10  existing buildings would be more feasible and

         11  appropriate.  The pilot program should be designed

         12  to assess whether low-cost or no-cost operational

         13  improvements can be identified and implemented and

         14  should include training to enable building staff to

         15  maintain those improvements and follow- up

         16  measurement and verification of energy usage to

         17  identify cost savings.

         18                 Once again, I appreciate the

         19  opportunity to appear before the Committee and look

         20  forward to working with you further on these pieces

         21  of legislation.  I am happy to answer any questions

         22  you may have.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         24  Thank you, Mr. Brosen.  Before I pose questions, I

         25  just want to recognize that we're joined by Council
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          2  Member Melissa Mark Viverito from Manhattan and I

          3  neglected, when I was thanking staff, to thank

          4  Veronica McNeil, who is hiding, hi Veronica.  Great

          5  to have you. Great to have you, Veronica, as always.

          6                 I have some prepared questions, but

          7  just out of a sort of a survey level, it seems that

          8  for my take on your testimony for Intro. 18, you

          9  believe that, you seem to assert that legislation

         10  would be appropriate, just not how we have it

         11  written.  Would that be a fair interpretation to

         12  take away from your, from the brief couple of

         13  sentences that you had on Intro. 18, would that be

         14  fair say?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Yes, I'd

         16  say, that would be fair to say.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Intro.

         18  23, going forward, for new buildings, your statement

         19  is that Local Law 86 would cover that and it

         20  wouldn't make sense to do legislation for retro-

         21  commissioning, that's your statement?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  For

         23  retro commissioning, it would make sense.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What's that?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  For
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          2  retro commissioning, it would make sense.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It would make

          4  sense.  Okay, well  --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  For a

          6  more limited, for a more limited program.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, but that

          8  could be a bill in your estimation, right? Because

          9  you talked about, you're talking about a pilot.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Yeah,

         11  I'm talking about a pilot.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, that we

         13  could do via legislation.  Good, okay.  So, we agree

         14  that bills are a good thing.  I'm for that.  Let me

         15  just  --  we appreciate that.

         16                 Now, in your statement, you talk

         17  about with regard to Intro. 23, you talk about the

         18  pilot program and it should be designed to assess

         19  whether low- cost or no- cost operational

         20  improvement can be identified and implemented and,

         21  you know, should include training to enable building

         22  staff to maintain those improvements.  Would the

         23  training program be, would that like need to be

         24  piloted?  Would that be the pilot?  I don't, perhaps

         25  I can just ask you to expand upon your vision for
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          2  Intro. 23, as you would like to see it crafted.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  It's

          4  something we're looking into actually already, where

          5  we're working, thinking about doing additional

          6  training for, for our buildings managers and for

          7  people who run facilities and actually Susan Cohen,

          8  who is my Executive Director of Office and Energy

          9  Conservation, has been, knows a little bit more

         10  details about that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure, I'd be

         12  happy to hear from her.  Ms. Cohen, if you could

         13  just state your name for the record before you

         14  commence speaking, that would be great.

         15                 MS. COHEN:  Thank you.  Hi.  My name

         16  is Susan Cohen.  I'm Executive Director of Energy

         17  and Evaluation at DCAS. Our notion of retro-

         18  commissioning, as you said, there are many buildings

         19  out there that have, were not commissioned perhaps

         20  to begin with, there may be opportunities for energy

         21  savings.

         22                 But, at the same time, we know that

         23  good project management does involve review of new

         24  equipment, let's say HVAC equipment, that might be

         25  put into a building.  Good project management can
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          2  and should certainly including training building

          3  staff in that equipment and making sure that

          4  equipment works with other systems, even if it's not

          5  commissioning or retro commissioning.

          6                 So, we don't want to just, you know,

          7  go out there willy-nilly and put what could be a

          8  very expensive contract in place and then, you know,

          9  be doing work that's redundant.  So, our thought is

         10  to have a pilot to identify a handful of sites in

         11  conjunction with other agencies.  We first, at the

         12  Office of Energy Conservation, would look at larger

         13  buildings.  We don't have square footage across the

         14  board, but we have certainly square footage for some

         15  of the bigger buildings.

         16                 So, pick out some of the buildings

         17  that appear to be high energy cost buildings, work

         18  with Office of Management and Budget, because you

         19  would retro-commission a building where you're not

         20  planning a major facility upgrade in the next few

         21  years because, you know, you want to take a building

         22  where there are existing systems that can be fine-

         23  tuned.  So, we, we could, you know, and I think in a

         24  fairly short order of time, identify potential sites

         25  and, of course, we have to go through the normal
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          2  procurement rules to put a contract in place for

          3  retro commissioning.  That's not instantaneous, nor

          4  should it be, for contracting purposes.  Then, work

          5  with those sites, train the people at that, at those

          6  locations, obviously.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Let me

          8  just jump in for a second.  I appreciate your

          9  comments.  But, when I picture the universe that you

         10  inhabit, you've got to, you know, deal with your own

         11  agency, you've got to deal with OMB, you've got to

         12  deal with all the contracting procedures, as

         13  appropriate, just that, dealing with all that and

         14  I've worked in agencies and I fully understand

         15  everything you have to go through in order to move

         16  something forward.  You've done a good job of

         17  explaining what that's like.

         18                 But, we, you know, believe that we

         19  want to sort of help you do this by crafting

         20  legislation that will, sort of essentially follow-

         21  up on and put into practice what was put forward by

         22  the Administration's own Energy Task Force.  That

         23  Report called upon the City to lead by example and

         24  by us, you know, crystallizing some of those

         25  recommendations into legislation, as appropriate, is
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          2  a way of getting you to be able to do this a lot

          3  fast, a lot better and a lot easier.  So, that's

          4  just, generally, where I'm coming from.  But, go

          5  ahead.

          6                 MS. COHEN:  I, I'm sure it seems,

          7  from your perspective, that, you know, there was

          8  this recommendation and now how much later we're

          9  discussing this.  But, in fact, we really have moved

         10  a number of steps ahead.  There are things that, you

         11  know, you don't see from where you sit.  But, you

         12  should know that New York City's energy, well, our

         13  electricity contract from  '95 for the seven years

         14  going forward, was a fixed price contract and energy

         15  costs, during the period of the prior

         16  Administration, really dropped relative to other

         17  costs.  And, you know, energy conservation, at the

         18  time, wasn't a high priority -

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         20                 MS. COHEN:  --  At, things have

         21  changed a lot in the last few years  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         23                 MS. COHEN:  --  And one of the things

         24  that happened a year ago, a little more than a year

         25  ago, a year and a quarter ago, because of our
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          2  commitment through the Energy Policy Task Force and

          3  the new Administration, my coming to DCAS  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          5                 MS. COHEN:  --  My boss coming to

          6  DCAS, we did secure new, a few new staff resources,

          7  three new positions in the Office of Energy

          8  Conservation and those were just filled this summer

          9  and we brought in, in particular, a person

         10  experienced in facility management, building retro-

         11  commissioning.  So, you know, we've done a lot of

         12  the leg work that can now position us to actually

         13   --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         15                 MS. COHEN:  --  Then  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, and we, I

         17  should have recognized that more in my statement,

         18  the distance that you've come and we, you know,

         19  certainly appreciate that.  I also appreciate your

         20  agency, having worked there once upon a time.  I

         21  worked for Former Commissioner Hadley Gold

         22  (phonetic) back in the Koch Administration, Ken

         23  Knuckles (phonetic) in the Dinkins Administration,

         24  so, I'm showing my age a little bit.  But, I worked

         25  there for several years at the, what was then called
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          2  DGS.

          3                 Let me just, I have a copy of the  --

          4    let me just organize my thoughts for a second.

          5  Okay.  Reading from the report, that is the New York

          6  City Energy Policy, the resource road map that was

          7  produced in January of 2004, page 53 of that report,

          8  it talks about New York City leading by example.

          9                 With regard to the section under

         10  energy efficiency leading by example, in one of the

         11  points under enhancing and augmenting the City's

         12  menu of energy efficiency programs is one, organize

         13  formal energy efficiency training programs for

         14  agency representatives, including facility managers

         15  and building engineers and also introduce a pilot

         16  commissioning program for new and existing

         17  facilities.  It seems that your work has been

         18  consistent with that and our intent here is

         19  consistent with that.

         20                 But, separate apart from

         21  commissioning, you know, shouldn't there be a

         22  training program to ensure efficiency at all

         23  buildings?  We're not talking about a pilot program.

         24    We're talking about a training program to make

         25  sure that all of our, you know, building operators
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          2  are, including efficiencies, as appropriate, in all

          3  our operations, could you speak to that?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Well,

          5  it's something we've already been considering.  So,

          6  we'd be happy to work with you, you know, regarding

          7  that and as far as the bills that you're proposing,

          8  so.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, well,

         10  sure.  If you indicate that you've been thinking

         11  about that and you have been considering it, now's

         12  the time for, I guess, for us and for you to sort of

         13  put our heads together and figure out what we'd like

         14  to see crystallized in the form of legislation.

         15  Because, once it's in a bill, then it kind of has to

         16  happen, right?  We pass it; the Mayor signs it;

         17  everyone's all excited about it and then it happens

         18  a lot quicker.  This is really what we're trying to

         19  do.

         20                 I know that  --  okay, I was going to

         21  recognize Peter for questions, Councilman Vallone,

         22  before I move to my other questions.  And we're

         23  joined by Council Member Lanza, Senator- Elect

         24  Lanza.  So, we're grateful to have Andrew here with

         25  us.
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          2                 Now, you mentioned recent hirings of

          3  three staff members to help with these energy

          4  efficiency measures.  If these two bills become law,

          5  would the agency need additional resources to meet

          6  the mandate?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Well,

          8  it's something we might have to look at.  We're not

          9  really, we'd have to see what the final, final

         10  results of the bill and if they become law, what the

         11  law would require, but whether the resources that we

         12  have are adequate to deal with what the requirements

         13  are.  So, it's a possibility, but I can't say, at

         14  this point, until I see what the final, the final

         15  form of the law would be.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  I

         17  have some other prepared questions  --  coming

         18  through here?  Okay.  To what extent does the City

         19  currently use building retro commissioning?  To what

         20  extent have you been engaged in retro commissioning?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Well, as

         22  far as I know, I don't think we, we have done that

         23  in any of our DCAS managed facilities yet.  I don't

         24  know if I can pass on to Susan, if she has more

         25  experience in dealing with some of the, some of the
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          2  building managers and the some of the, some of the

          3  other agencies if they, if she knows of any other

          4  places.

          5                 MS. COHEN:  Well, actually, DCAS

          6  facility, Division of Facility Management, is one of

          7  the places where they have a very strong feeling

          8  that when you install, as I said, you know, a new

          9  system, for example, 100 Gold Street had a recent

         10  project in which a whole new HVAC system was put in

         11  and certainly anything that's covered in

         12  commissioning was covered through the installation

         13  of that contract.

         14                 So, you know, an agency might not

         15  have retro, a commissioning or retro- commissioning

         16  contract, it may do some of that work.  We only, I

         17  mean, even we don't speak directly for facilities'

         18  management.  We don't know fully what happens out

         19  there with other buildings.  Other agencies, we do

         20  know that DDC has a commissioning contract  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Let me just

         22  stop you there for a second.  Sometimes I feel like

         23  I'm being amplified, sometimes I feel like it's not,

         24  is that happening?  Okay.  No, it's good, okay.  So,

         25  you just stated that you're not really sure what's

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  happening out there.  Now, other agencies manage

          3  their buildings independent of you and have nothing

          4  to do with you?  Is that  --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  That's

          6  correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  So  --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  There's

          9  the 53 DCAS managed buildings and there's any

         10  facilities City- wide that are not managed by DCAS.

         11  So, what  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, you have 53

         13  DCAS- managed sites  --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:

         15  Facilities.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  In the City

         17    --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  And all the

         20  other agencies maintain like their own buildings?

         21  Fire Department, Police Department, whatever, they,

         22  it's not a DCA- managed site?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  As far

         24  as I know, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  So, if
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          2  we  --

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  And

          4  then, what Susan, what Susan was going, the next

          5  part she was going to explain is that DDC does have

          6  a contract for commissioning and I believe also, and

          7  she knows again, I'll pass to her, she knows a

          8  little bit more about it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Hang on a

         10  second.  I just want to consult with staff for a

         11  second.  I'm just a little confused.

         12                 Okay, yes, we want to cover, just

         13  pretend you're me for a second.  We want to write a

         14  bill and we want it to apply to City buildings, to

         15  all City buildings and we've invited Administration

         16  and the Administration has sent you here today. But,

         17  we want to find out, you know, how we would  --

         18  but, you're really here to testify in terms of the

         19  53 sites and only the 53 sites that are managed by

         20  DCAS.  With respect to all the other agencies and

         21  all the other, our fleet of buildings or whatever

         22  would be the appropriate term, how do we interact

         23  with them and get their sense of what this

         24  legislation would be all about?  How do we do that?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Okay,
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          2  well, I'll pass it on to Susan.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          4                 MS. COHEN:  The Office of Energy

          5  Conservation, DCAS, pays the energy bills for all

          6  public buildings, as Don said at the opening and as

          7  you have, so that cuts across all agencies and also

          8  some of the cultural institutions.  So, we have the

          9  institutional knowledge of the energy costs of all

         10  of these facilities.

         11                 That's why I, but we don't, not only

         12  do we not manage the building, but we also don't

         13  manage the agencies', you know, capital budgets, so

         14  agencies have all kinds of needs for their capital

         15  dollars.  But, that's why I said, in, for example,

         16  with retro- commissioning, we can do a first tier

         17  look at, you know, where we think there might be

         18  reasonable sites for projects based on energy costs

         19  and then we need to work with OMB  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Among your 53

         21  or among everybody?

         22                 MS. COHEN:  No, among all, no, no,

         23  no, I meant all, all, all City, public buildings for

         24  whom the City of New York pays the energy costs

         25  through the DCAS budget.  Then, we can work with OMB
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          2  and say, you know, we think this is a particularly

          3  good site and OMB might say, no it's not because

          4  it's slated for demolition in two years or

          5  something, we don't know.

          6                 But, okay, then they might say, well,

          7  this is a building where, in fact, the agency has

          8  asked, you know, for money to rebuild, to do

          9  something, to fix it up and we've said no, or the

         10  agency has used its dollars in other ways.  So, this

         11  might be a good candidate because, in fact, we're

         12  not going to do a major upgrade.  No, we very much

         13  see ourselves as, you know, having, having this view

         14  of where the energy costs lie and then using that to

         15  craft a bill that can achieve some conservation  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, yes,

         17  because now I'm, you know, more convinced than I

         18  ever was that the only way this is going to happen

         19  to the extent envisioned by the Mayor's Report and

         20  by what we believe here at the Council is to do a

         21  bill that would sort of force everyone collectively

         22  in the Administration so as to figure out a way to

         23  do this because you don't really have any say over

         24  what these agencies' capital budgets are because

         25  they give you energy bills and you pay them, you
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          2  know, and so  --

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  With

          4  some oversight though also with the energy bills.

          5  We  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, right,

          7  right, but you're not  --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  --  Do

          9  review them in liaison with the ELOs about, you

         10  know, where, what things look like on the bills and

         11  things they should be noting and reviewing and

         12  checking to see if things make sense.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, but the

         14  leap that we're trying to make is from where we are

         15  now, where we have your agency and your good folks

         16  trying to instil, cajole energy efficiency and sort

         17  of, you know, dangle inducements and try to get

         18  people to do this, but having no, you know, direct

         19  control. That's the situation where we have now,

         20  where we have well intentioned folks in your agency,

         21  in other agencies, that are very concerned about

         22  this and, for all we know, are probably making

         23  proposals to OMB and others for the need for greater

         24  energy efficiency.

         25                 All that's admirable, but we don't
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          2  have a bill that would mandate the vision sort of

          3  set forth in this Energy Task Force Report.  I think

          4  for the vision of this Energy Task Force Report to

          5  be realized, you know, we've got to do a bill to

          6  make that happen, to get everybody to place on this

          7  effort the priority that needs to be placed on it.

          8  So, I'm even convinced more now that the only way to

          9  make that happen is via a bill.  Do you have

         10  anything to comment on that?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  I would

         12  just say that --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You can just

         14  say yes.  It's fine.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Well,

         16  also, the Mayor is also working with the Task Force

         17  on Sustainability and Long Term Planning and part of

         18  the, part of that Task Force is considering what is

         19  in the Energy Policy Task Force recommendations,

         20  including these items  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  --  That

         23  we're talking about recommissioning.  So, then  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, right.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  --  You
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          2  know, as that gets worked out, that might well be

          3  part of what's in that, in that Task Force

          4  recommendations.  I know that the Council is also

          5  participating  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, I'm  --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  --  In

          8  the development  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Fortunate

         10  to sit on that Committee, as is the Speaker.  The

         11  Task Force is having a lot of, or the advisory

         12  committee, I should say, is having a very specific

         13  focus on the private sector, not as much on what

         14  government could and should be doing.  Anyway,

         15  everyone seems to agree that this is a good thing to

         16  do, we're just trying to figure out the best way to,

         17  you know, get there.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Yes, we

         19  agree it's a good idea.  It's just how about, how do

         20  we get there.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.  Yes and,

         22  of course, sooner rather than later.  I'd like to

         23  recognize Council Member Melissa Mark Viverito for

         24  questions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Okay, thank
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          2  Mr. Chair. I just, in your testimony, you mention

          3  that you have a contract with the New York Power

          4  Authority, through which we can coordinate a variety

          5  of energy efficiency and clean energy technology

          6  projects.  Could you elaborate in terms of what that

          7  is or is that happening or is that something that

          8  you project can happen?  I just wanted to know a

          9  little bit more detail with regards to that comment.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Right.

         11  This is the ENCORE program or the ENCORE contract

         12  and we're already, we, there are already projects

         13  taking place now, ongoing, that we've been working

         14  with NYPA and implementing, mostly lighting,

         15  lighting projects, where we've doing more high-

         16  efficiency lighting and it reduces the demand on

         17  power requirements and it's more efficient.  It

         18  actually provides also better lighting for a variety

         19  of buildings.

         20                 There's also some other projects

         21  through the ENCORE program, boiler projects, chiller

         22  projects that we do also that provide more energy

         23  efficiency or are just better technology that are

         24  more efficient than what, that they are replacing.

         25                 Right now, we're actually working
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          2  with OMB to try to implement some more projects.  As

          3  far as the funding, we're doing all these projects

          4  now through the capital program, the capital budget

          5  program and we're also working with agencies to find

          6  more and more of these projects to do and it will

          7  help on the demand reduction side across the City.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Now, have

          9  you been able to, with regards to this, what you're

         10  describing that has been implemented and with the

         11  listing that you provided us of the sites that

         12  currently have the fuel cells and the cogeneration

         13  plan, have you been able to determine what the

         14  savings have been?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Yes we

         16  have and I think I could pass to Susan, might have

         17  some more  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Sure, that

         19  would be  --

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  --  Of

         21  the detailed --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  --  Great

         23  to know.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  --

         25  Numbers or estimates.
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          2                 MS. COHEN:  But, separating the

          3  distributed generation products, because, remember,

          4  those are generally special circumstance  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  These, the

          6  ones --

          7                 MS. COHEN:  --  Projects.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  --  On the

          9  list.

         10                 MS. COHEN:  Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Okay.

         12                 MS. COHEN:  But, under our ENCORE

         13  agreements with the New York Power Authority, we've

         14  done about 20 projects a year since 1995 and there

         15  was a predecessor agreement under which earlier

         16  contracts were done.  We, accumulatively, those

         17  projects from  '95 on have reduced demand in public

         18  buildings by about 20 megawatts  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Could you

         20   --

         21                 MS. COHEN:  By 20 megawatts.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  I

         23  understand, but could you give a financial figure as

         24  to what does that represent?

         25                 MS. COHEN:  The dollar savings?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Yes.

          3                 MS. COHEN:  I can get back to you on

          4  the dollar savings.  I can tell you that, in

          5  general, those projects have about an average of an

          6  eight year payback.  So, that means, you lay out the

          7  costs, I mean however you want to finance it, but

          8  you recoup your, you recoup the initial costs in, on

          9  average, eight years.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Okay, thank

         11  you Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         13  Thank you Councilwoman.  I'm taking a look at the

         14  clean on- site power generation projects for the

         15  City's public buildings as of last month and, of

         16  course, as you mentioned, it's an impressive list.

         17  Some are fuel cells, some are solar power,

         18  photovoltaics, microturbines, cogen. And certainly

         19  different decisions were made to sort of put this

         20  project here and this here.  What determines the

         21  viability for certain technology at any given site?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Well,

         23  these projects, I think, almost all or if not all

         24  were implemented before I took over.  I don't know

         25  if Susan can speak to how they determine, I'm not an
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          2  expert on all the technologies, so I can't really

          3  speak to how they determine exactly, but I don't

          4  know if Susan can help elaborate.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Susan, it's,

          6  you got it, it's you or nobody now.

          7                 MS. COHEN:  We need Gil Quiniones

          8  here, actually, unfortunately he's in, I believe,

          9  Albany today.  Can someone Blackberry Gil.

         10  Actually, I think, I don't, there aren't, from my

         11  understanding, there aren't, there aren't automatic

         12  rules that, you know, about what makes something

         13  viable, because it's really, there are site-by-site

         14  considerations.  So, for example, Don mentioned the

         15  fuel cell in Central Park.  There, the thing that,

         16  you know, that made that work financially is the

         17  avoided cost of a particular underground line.

         18  Another building might have a different kind of

         19  infrastructure situation.

         20                 We do know that, and you've talked

         21  about clean distributed generation, but I'm sure

         22  everyone understands, I mean, your, the, your first

         23  emphasis in your definition of DG was some of the

         24  reliability issues, but we also know that

         25  distributed generation can be efficient where
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          2  there's a matching heat requirement to the

          3  electricity that might be generated on site. So,

          4  there may be, I mean, there certainly are criteria

          5  that clean DG could make sense where there's a

          6  combined heat and electric load in combination with

          7  an older plant that needs replacement.

          8                 I mean, if you had a decent

          9  functioning HVAC system, for example, at a

         10  particular location, you know, that had 20 years

         11  left, you wouldn't go out and look for a clean DG.

         12  But, we can tell you, for example, that, I mean,

         13  even without legislation, we know that Rikers

         14  Island, I think I mentioned this at the last

         15  Hearing, that the Department of Corrections is

         16  considering its energy needs at Rikers, beginning

         17  three or four years from now.  So, they're beginning

         18  to look at DG.  They came to us because we have this

         19  ENCORE agreement that might be a way to do this.  We

         20  brought in EDC to help, you know, to help look at

         21  what's, what might be appropriate there.

         22                 The Bronx, I'm sorry, the New York

         23  Botanical Garden, again, it's far off, it's just at

         24  the beginning, but they're beginning to think about

         25  whether DG might make sense there.  There, they have
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          2  the heat need, the electric need and also it may be

          3  a particular location where the Con Ed grid could

          4  use the extra capacity.  So, there may be some

          5  incentive payment. So, I would really say each case

          6  is different.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  You

          8  know, it seems like what I'm hearing is that, well,

          9  based on what you're saying now and based on this

         10  range of projects, fuel cells, cogens., solar power,

         11  photovoltaics, microturbines, that you have an open

         12  mind to all of the technologies and you haven't

         13  seemingly, you know, written any off as not viable

         14  in New York City.  Would that be a fair

         15  interpretation or take from your statement?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Yes,

         17  that's correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Thank

         19  you, thank you. I recognize Council Member Peter

         20  Vallone for questions.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you

         22  Mr. Chair and I have to apologize for being in and

         23  out and dealing with a certain police issue you may

         24  have heard of and will have to be leaving soon.

         25                 But, as someone who has, is a major
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          2  supporter of alternative energy uses and fewer power

          3  plants, as representing the district that provides

          4  70 percent of the power for the entire City right

          5  now, this is important to me.  It seems like we're

          6  all on the same page.

          7                 You may have mentioned this while I

          8  was gone, so if you did, just shut me up.  But, on

          9  page 12 of your testimony, you state that  --  I'm

         10  sorry, I went to the wrong page, I'm sorry, page, I

         11  guess there's only two, where you discuss Intro. 18,

         12  you say that, we support the concept of identifying

         13  City facilities or groups that meet certain

         14  threshold conditions.  You would welcome working

         15  with us, which I'm sure our Chair will do. But, you

         16  don't support it because there are certain types of

         17  facilities which this is not appropriate for.

         18                 Assuming our Chair did not reach some

         19  sort of compromise here with you, which he usually

         20  does, what would be the harm in just saying, you

         21  know, we've surveyed the buildings and this half of

         22  them it's not appropriate for?  Why would that cause

         23  you not to support this legislation?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  I

         25  wouldn't say we're not supporting legislation, just
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          2  not necessarily in the form that it's currently

          3  presented.  We want, we think that some

          4  modifications would make it better and we thought by

          5  limited it to where we, like you, as you're saying,

          6  where it makes most sense to, to use this type of

          7  technology would be where we should dedicate our

          8  focus and our efforts.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I don't

         10  disagree, but I don't see the harm in you telling us

         11  and everyone else what buildings this is not

         12  appropriate for.  I don't know why they would need

         13  to be eliminated before we even do the survey.  We

         14  don't know what buildings this is appropriate for

         15  and what buildings it's not.  That's why we're here.

         16    We have an oversight responsibility.  So, I'm not

         17  sure that's the most credible concern, but I am

         18  happy that we're all on the same page and I'm sure

         19  that based on what you said, we'll be able to come

         20  to something here that we can all live with.  So,

         21  thank you.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         24  Council Member Vallone.  We play like good cop, bad

         25  cop.  That's how we do it here.  Speaking of the
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          2  police issue that Peter made reference to, Council

          3  Member White, who is a Member of this Committee,

          4  called me before the Hearing and indicated that he

          5  wanted me to state on the record that the reason

          6  that he could not come to today's Hearing was that

          7  he's meeting with family members who were involved

          8  in the shooting.  So, Council Member White asked me

          9  to make that statement on the record, that that's

         10  the reason that he's not with us today.

         11                 I have just a few more questions and

         12  that has to do with the topic of distributed energy.

         13    Do you know of any state and/or federal funding

         14  mechanisms that might be available for clean

         15  distributed energy projects for local municipalities

         16  like the City of New York?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  I'm not

         18  aware of any. Doesn't mean they're not, don't exist.

         19    I'm not sure if, Susan, if you're aware of any

         20  grant programs or anything.

         21                 MS. COHEN:  Well, as you probably

         22  know, most private sector entities in New York City

         23  would think about NYSERDA as a source for funding

         24  and the City of New York is not eligible for most

         25  NYSERDA funding because we don't pay into the pool.
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          2  From rare time to time, there's a, there is a

          3  NYSERDA program and we went after money under one of

          4  those for the demonstration projects at, solar

          5  demonstration projects at the Bronx High School of

          6  Science and the Queens Hall of Science  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How did you do?

          8                 MS. COHEN:  --  Where the City  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Did you get it?

         10                 MS. COHEN:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         12                 MS. COHEN:  Yes.  So, we look for

         13  those.  But, even those have a cost premium even

         14  after the grant, a considerable cost premium, even

         15  after the grant.  But, you know, we want to do some

         16  where we can.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Thank

         18  you.  What are the major obstacles confronting the

         19  City regarding using clean distributed energy in its

         20  facilities?  How can these obstacles best be

         21  overcome?  We've talked about this a little but, I

         22  just want to state this question for the record and

         23  have you respond to it.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  I'm not

         25  sure if either Susan or I have the technical
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          2  knowledge to answer that question.  So, I think,

          3  Susan was just saying to me, Gil Quiniones probably

          4  would be better able to answer that, those types of

          5  details.

          6                 MS. COHEN:  But we know also from the

          7  facility's end, there are space constraints, you

          8  have to have the right kind of energy source, you

          9  have to have the right pattern of, you know, of

         10  electric and heat needs, you have to have systems

         11  that need replacing, but then there are all these

         12  complicated utility matters that we leave to others.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         14  Thank you very much for coming before us today and

         15  testifying.  We appreciate the fact that you're

         16  willing to embrace in both these bill's cases some

         17  legislative compromise that we could come to closure

         18  on.  We appreciate, number one, your, you know,

         19  statement of that commitment and, number two, your

         20  willingness to work with us to actually craft that

         21  agreement that we can move forward.  We appreciate

         22  having you here very much.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BROSEN:  Thank

         24  you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Thank
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          2  you.  We have two witnesses that are signed up to

          3  speak.  We'll hear them  -- how many, yes, we've got

          4  this, okay.  So, we'll hear from Herb Healy of UTC

          5  Power, to be followed by Frank Wolak, looks like,

          6  Frank Wolak.  Anyone else wishing to be heard should

          7  approach the Sergeant and fill out a slip.  But,

          8  first, we'll hear from Herb Healy from UTC Power.

          9                 The Counsel to the Committee is not

         10  in the room right now for the purposes of giving the

         11  oath, but we happen to have an attorney as a Member

         12  of the Committee.  Councilman Lanza will administer

         13  the oath and then you can proceed with your

         14  testimony.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  Thank you

         16  Chairman.  Sir, please raise your right hand.  Do

         17  you swear or affirm that the testimony that you will

         18  give today before the Environmental Protection

         19  Committee, this date, November 28, 2006, will be the

         20  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         21                 MR. HEALY:  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         24  Thank you Council Member Lanza and thank you Mr.

         25  Healy.  If the Sergeant could help Mr. Healy with
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          2  his microphone, okay.  Israel to the rescue.

          3  Israel's the name of the Sergeant who is going to be

          4  helping him.

          5                 MR. HEALY:  Thank you.  Thank you.

          6  I'm microphoned challenged today, I admit that.

          7  Shall I begin, Mr. Chairman?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, yes sir.

          9                 MR. HEALY:  Thank you Chairman

         10  Gennaro, Members of the Council and guests.  My name

         11  is Herb Healy.  I am Acting Director, Regulatory

         12  Policy for UTC Power, that's United Technologies

         13  Power and we are part of United Technologies

         14  Corporation.  With more than 40 years of experience,

         15  UTC Power is a world leader in fuel cell technology

         16  and the only company in the world that develops and

         17  produces fuel cells for applications in each major

         18  market and that's on- site power, transportation,

         19  space flight and defense applications.  We are also

         20  a world leader in the development of innovative

         21  combined cooling, heating and power applications in

         22  the distributed energy market.

         23                 We appreciate your interest in

         24  accelerating the use of clean on- site power

         25  generating technologies in New York City and the
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          2  opportunity to give you our views on two proposals

          3  before you today, Intro. Number 18, clean on- site

          4  power generation survey and Intro. Number 23,

          5  building commissioning, energy efficiency and

          6  conservation training.

          7                 We support both proposals.  On- site

          8  generating technologies contribute to cleaner air

          9  and reduce system demands and we believe clean on-

         10  site power generation offers special benefits in

         11  confined urban settings.

         12                 For example, UTC Power's clean on-

         13  site energy systems are especially well suited to

         14  locations where physical space is limited, low noise

         15  levels are critical and emissions reductions are

         16  needed.  And, as evidenced by our fuel cell

         17  installation at the Central Park Police Station,

         18  which has been discussed already today, on- site

         19  power can provide an alternative to the local

         20  utility grid, not subject to local or massive grid

         21  outages, while eliminating costly and disruptive new

         22  underground feeds.

         23                 Importantly, UTC Power has ample

         24  experience in deploying clean on- site power in New

         25  York City that operate in parallel with and in
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          2  support of the local utility grid under formal

          3  safety standards.  In this mode, a municipally-

          4  owned on site generating unit offers the additional

          5  value of being able to provide back- up emergency

          6  power in the event of a grid failure.

          7                 For these reasons, the proposal to

          8  survey City facilities for clean on- site power

          9  potential is an important first step to increase New

         10  York City's use of environmentally friendly and

         11  reliable on- site generation.  To assist your

         12  deliberations, UTC Power offers suggestions on the

         13  proposals before you today.

         14                 On Intro. Number 18, clean on- site

         15  power generation survey, we offer the following:

         16  UTC Power supports the City's regular review of

         17  facilities to determine whether they are suitable

         18  candidates for clean on- site generation.  We offer

         19  the following suggestions, which would, in our view,

         20  enhance the proposed draft:

         21                 Survey time frame.  The proposal

         22  directs that surveys be conducted by January 1,

         23  2007.  That's right around the corner.  UTC Power

         24  assumes that the Council will adjust this deadline

         25  based on the date of enactment.  UTC Power supports
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          2  an expeditious approach that can accelerate clean

          3  energy deployment, but also believes it would be

          4  advantageous to invest a brief period to develop a

          5  survey instrument that will provide the desired

          6  practical and comprehensive information.

          7                 Scope of facilities considered.  UTC

          8  Power encourages the City to consider requesting

          9  property owners from whom the City leases facilities

         10  to participate in the survey or to perform and

         11  report to the City their own comparable analysis

         12  about on- site power potential.  This is a

         13  straightforward way to reach the largest number of

         14  facilities supported by New York City tax payers.

         15                 Third.  Criteria to determine

         16  suitability of on site installations.  The proposal

         17  seeks to gather information about whether clean on-

         18  site generation systems are appropriate for City

         19  facilities.  UTC Power recommends that the Council

         20  identify specific technical information to obtain

         21  from the survey to assess whether a facility is an

         22  appropriate candidate for on site power.

         23                 For example, the survey should

         24  include technical information, including the

         25  facility's electric base load;
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          2                 Electric peak demand and information

          3  on the daily and seasonal electric load profile;

          4                 Similarly, for the thermal usage of

          5  the facility and additionally the breakdown of the

          6  types of thermal usage. For example, space, heating,

          7  domestic hot water;

          8                 The facility's need for power when

          9  grid fails, that is critical or assured power back-

         10  up needs; and

         11                 Installation considerations, which

         12  have also been mentioned today, such as availability

         13  of natural gas, space availability for on- site

         14  generators and type of electric service from the

         15  local distribution utility.

         16                 The survey should also provide

         17  current natural gas and electric facility energy

         18  costs and any pending rate increases for both to

         19  enable economic assessment of on- site generation.

         20  Information on any other forms of energy the

         21  facility uses, such as the Consolidated Edison's

         22  steam system and existing steam rates should be

         23  identified in the survey.

         24                 Additionally, the proposal needs to

         25  identify the methodology by which the assessment of
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          2  the appropriateness of on site generation is

          3  determined.  We recommend the proposal include a

          4  provision that provides for development of that

          5  methodology and an opportunity for review and

          6  comment on the methodology.  For example, we

          7  recommend that the methodology be based on the total

          8  life cycle cost of installing on- site generation

          9  over a minimum of ten years.

         10                 Next, definitions.  The proposal

         11  defines clean as a carbon dioxide emissions- based

         12  comparison to a new combined cycle natural gas fired

         13  power plant of similar capacity.  UTC Power applauds

         14  the Council's intention that clean on- site

         15  generation should be a criteria for deployment and

         16  suggests that the proper point of reference is an

         17  emissions level superior to the power that the on-

         18  site generator would displace, taking into

         19  consideration the mix of central station power

         20  resources, transmission and distribution losses, as

         21  well as emissions from avoided central station

         22  spinning reserve capacity.

         23                 Additionally, UTC Power suggests that

         24  the focus on carbon dioxide emissions should be

         25  broadened to include emissions from toxic air
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          2  pollution, air pollutants as well.

          3                 Further, the proposal indicates that

          4  the term clean on- site generation may include the

          5  generation of electricity through co- generation,

          6  solar power, wind power, anaerobic digesters, fuel

          7  cells and the use of microturbines. UTC Power

          8  supports this list and encourages the Council to

          9  also include tri- generation.

         10                 Tri- generation refers to a power

         11  source that provides heating, cooling and power.  A

         12  unit that provides cooling in addition to co-

         13  generation's traditional heat and power delivers

         14  especially high value to the electric system by

         15  displacing the need for grid power during the

         16  system's peak summer demand.

         17                 UTC Power also suggests that

         18  emissions be measured on the basis of the on- site

         19  generator's total usable energy output and that

         20  includes electricity, heating and cooling.

         21                 Lastly, survey results.  The

         22  provision to update the survey, bi- annually, to

         23  capture facility changes is reasonable.  UTC Power

         24  strongly encourages the City to post complete survey

         25  instrument responses on the web to allow providers
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          2  of the range of on- site technologies to identify

          3  those facilities that may be especially well suited

          4  to certain types of clean energy technologies based

          5  on information such as load profiles or the value of

          6  maintaining power during grid outages.

          7                 Now onto Intro. Number 23, building

          8  commissioning, energy efficiency and conservation

          9  training.  Brief statement there.  Increasing energy

         10  efficiency and conservation expertise among building

         11  managers and staff is a prudent course that is

         12  likely to deliver short- and long- term benefits.

         13                 While manufacturers can design and

         14  sell a high energy efficiency system, a third- party

         15  contractor that does not install or maintain the

         16  system properly could significantly reduce the

         17  system's operational and environmental benefits.  In

         18  our experience, these systems are properly installed

         19  every day by qualified technicians, but additional

         20  training could further ensure that all deployed

         21  systems are properly installed and operated over the

         22  life of the equipment, as well as account for

         23  changes in facility operations and changes in staff

         24  personnel.

         25                 UTC Power supports the training
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          2  proposal, with a caution about the importance of

          3  implementing any new training program in a way that

          4  does not delay installations of new energy saving

          5  measures.

          6                 With that, UTC Power appreciates the

          7  opportunity to offer these views on these issues and

          8  we would be pleased to provide any further

          9  information that might assist you in your

         10  evaluations.  Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         12  Healy.  Thank you very much for your comprehensive

         13  statement, where you give us some interesting things

         14  to consider.  The tri- generation, which you speak

         15  of here and your whole section on the criteria to

         16  determine the suitability of on- site installations

         17  is quite helpful.

         18                 We also appreciate the fact that

         19  you've been before the Committee, you know, numerous

         20  times to try to help us in our legislative

         21  deliberations and the fact that you're already on

         22  the grid, so to speak, with your operation at the

         23  Central Park Police Station.  We deeply appreciate

         24  your commitment to helping the City and all that

         25  you're doing, both with your installation and with
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          2  your testimony before this Committee to try to make

          3  good things happen.  Let me just consult with staff

          4  for just a moment before I pose a question.

          5                 I want to ask a little bit about

          6  training.  The last part of your statement on Intro.

          7  Number 23, you talked about, you make a statement

          8  regarding training and we appreciate that also.

          9                 You heard what came before, we

         10  engaged the Administration in some colloquy on

         11  training, you know, should it be a pilot, should it

         12  be across the board.  We believe that kind of in a

         13  like a, you know, post- commissioning environment we

         14  should have clearly across the board training for

         15  everyone to make sure that, whatever efficiency

         16  measures have been built into the City's various

         17  facilities have the benefit of having the latest and

         18  best training.

         19                 That just, I mean, I guess a pilot is

         20  okay to start, but clearly we're looking for across

         21  the board training for all the City's facilities in

         22  a post- commissioning environment.  Would you concur

         23  with our position on that?

         24                 MR. HEALY:  We do concur with that.

         25  You know, our experience in putting in these on-
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          2  site generation systems over the last, you know, 15

          3  years or so, on a commercial basis, into all kinds

          4  of both commercial- and industrial- type settings,

          5  is that training any of the personnel that will be

          6  operating that equipment and/or maintaining that

          7  equipment is critical, absolutely critical.

          8                 Our further experience is that, you

          9  know, you can't, you can't say, well, I'm just going

         10  to do training, you know, here and there.  Training

         11  needs to be comprehensive. Training is only as good

         12  as it is comprehensive and inclusive on that

         13  equipment and of the personnel involved.  So, yes,

         14  we would support this and we would support it

         15  generally, not just for our equipment, obviously.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         17  Healy.  Just changing tracks just a little bit, with

         18  regard to Intro. 23 and building commissioning, if

         19  we were to proceed with a pilot on that, the idea of

         20  the pilot, that you want to pick the appropriate

         21  facilities for retro-commissioning, any advice on

         22  how we would endeavor to select the appropriate

         23  facilities for possible retro-commissioning?  Or,

         24  you know, what kind of criteria we would employ to

         25  make sure that we selected the right buildings for
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          2  such commissioning?

          3                 MR. HEALY:  Well, certainly, I would

          4  think that, you know, any building that you're

          5  actually going to do any retro work on would be

          6  inclusive.  I really, I think I'm really out of the

          7  ballpark trying to speak for how well, you know,

          8  facilities' personnel are already trained on their

          9  existing facilities.  I don't think that's a

         10  scenario I want to take any issue with. But,

         11  certainly, if you're looking at doing any retro

         12  upgrading as, as was one of the two categories,

         13  retro and new, we would think that training would be

         14  appropriate there.

         15                 Generally speaking, certainly, we

         16  speak for ourselves, you know, as a manufacturer, if

         17  we're going to put equipment into a building, be it

         18  retro or new, for that matter, we ensure that only

         19  trained personnel are going to be, you know,

         20  touching that equipment.  It's obviously to our

         21  advantage.  We hold, for example, we hold

         22  warranties.  We hold certain risks on that equipment

         23  and certain warranties with the building owner or

         24  whoever has purchased that piece of equipment.  It's

         25  to our advantage making sure.
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          2                 But, at the same time, particularly

          3  with on- site generation equipment, you're

          4  interfacing, by necessity, you're interfacing that

          5  equipment with existing or new building

          6  infrastructure, be it the electrical side or the

          7  thermal side, you know, heating or cooling.  So, the

          8  question always becomes, where does the

          9  responsibility of that equipment manufacturer end

         10  and where does his responsibility for training end

         11  and the responsibility of the facility personnel

         12  that's operating the other facility infrastructure

         13  pick up.

         14                 I'm not sure I'm making myself very

         15  clear, but the point is, is that the training, and

         16  that's our vision of this Intro. 23, is that the

         17  training would be comprehensive and not really stop

         18  at the boundaries of the distributed generation

         19  equipment or the on- site generation equipment, but

         20  be comprehensive for the operation of the entire,

         21  you now, central plan, if you will, of the building

         22  question, that would be, that would include but not

         23  be limited to that on- site generation equipment.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         25  Healy.  We certainly appreciate you coming down once
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          2  again and giving us such comprehensive testimony.

          3  We certainly will take it to heart as we further

          4  craft this, both of these legislative proposals.

          5  Appreciate very much your coming here.  If you can

          6  do me a favor, just dropping off your business card

          7  to the Sergeant at the desk there.  It think you

          8  gave one to me last time, but I did want to get one

          9  of those.

         10                 MR. HEALY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, I did,

         11  but I'll be more than happy to drop more off.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure,

         13  appreciate that.

         14                 MR. HEALY:  And, on a lighter side, I

         15  appreciate very much that the location was

         16  identified in the letter, as I came right here  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         18                 MR. HEALY:  --  I didn't end up in

         19   --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That's right.

         21                 MR. HEALY:  --  Staten Island.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.  Last time

         23  we had a little mix up.  Speaking of location, you

         24  come from, this is South Windsor, Connecticut.

         25                 MR. HEALY:  Correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Where is that?

          3  Tell our listeners our there where Windsor is.

          4  Where is Windsor, Connecticut?

          5                 MR. HEALY:  South Windsor,

          6  Connecticut and Windsor, Connecticut are east and

          7  west of the river, Connecticut River, respectively,

          8  about seven miles north of Hartford.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Oh, I

         10  see.

         11                 MR. HEALY:  Right on I91.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Wow, you

         13  had to come a long way.  Thank you.

         14                 MR. HEALY:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you very

         16  much for being here.  We're joined by Council Member

         17  Bill de Blasio, who is not from Windsor, but from

         18  the 39th Council district.  Windsor Terrace he has.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER de BLASIO:  Close

         20  enough.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, there is a

         22  Windsor connection, okay.  Our next witness, as I

         23  indicated previously, was Frank Wolak of FuelCell

         24  Energy, to be followed by Anthony Pereira of

         25  altPOWER.
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          2                 MR. WOLAK:  Good afternoon Chairman

          3  Gennaro and Members of the  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, before you

          5  commence, I'll call upon Council Member Lanza to,

          6  once again, be of service by administering the oath

          7  and then you can state your name and proceed with

          8  your testimony after you're duly sworn.  Council

          9  Member Lanza.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  Yes, Chairman.

         11    Please raise your right hand.  Do you swear or

         12  affirm that the testimony that you will give today,

         13  November 28, 2006, before the New York City Council

         14  Committee on Environmental Protection, will be the

         15  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         16                 MR. WOLAK:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  Let

         19  me get your statement here, Mr. Wolak.  FuelCell

         20  Energy, right?

         21                 MR. WOLAK:  Correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, thank

         23  you.  Please continue, sorry.

         24                 MR. WOLAK:  Thank you Chairman

         25  Gennaro and Members of the Environmental Protection
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          2  Committee for the opportunity here to provide some

          3  comments with respect to Intro. 18.

          4                 Now, we are not opposed  --  I'll

          5  make a statement --  we are not opposed to the idea

          6  of the training, as indicated in Intro. 23, but we,

          7  we have kept our comments, because they seem more

          8  appropriate to Intro. 18, the survey, specifically

          9   --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That's fine.

         11                 MR. WOLAK:  I could answer general

         12  questions on -

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         14                 MR. WOLAK:  --  Intro. 23, but our

         15  comments are really at Intro. 18.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         17                 MR. WOLAK:  For those who are

         18  unaware, FuelCell Energy, my name, for record, my

         19  name is Frank Wolak.  I'm Vice President with

         20  FuelCell Energy.  FuelCell Energy is a manufacturer

         21  of ultra clean, high efficiency fuel cell power

         22  systems, ranging in size from 300 kilowatts to 2.4

         23  megawatts. FuelCell Energy systems are presently

         24  operating around the world, providing clean,

         25  reliable power and we are pleased to have one of our
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          2  clean on- site generation systems located right here

          3  in Manhattan at the Sheraton Hotel and Towers.

          4                 With respect to Intro. 18, FuelCell

          5  Energy applauds the City of New York for taking

          6  steps to develop a clean on- site power generation

          7  survey of City facilities.  The policy arguments for

          8  establishing a significant portion of new in- City

          9  generation from clean distributed resources are

         10  already well documented in both the new New York

         11  Energy Policy Task Force Report, as well preparatory

         12  comments for the City Council for its October 31st

         13  Hearing on clean distributed energy.

         14                 But, implementation of these policy

         15  goals requires information.  Such information

         16  directs City planners, as well as private sector

         17  energy companies, to the most beneficial

         18  applications.  A survey, as proposed in Intro. 18,

         19  forms a good first step towards identifying such

         20  options.

         21                 The purpose of our comments today are

         22  not to review the conclusions in prior City efforts,

         23  but to provide some reinforcement of how FuelCell

         24  Energy's stationary fuel cell power generation

         25  complements those conclusions.
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          2                 First, we would like to note with

          3  respect to the definition of clean on- site

          4  generation used in Intro. 18, that it is our view

          5  that fuel cell generation is entirely consistent

          6  with this definition.  Some points to highlight.

          7                 Fuel cells can be located on- site,

          8  where residents need the electricity.  Fuel cell

          9  power generation has virtually no emissions, low

         10  noise and has a low visual profile.  This means that

         11  fuel cells, even multi- megawatt size fuel cells,

         12  can be located at City sites, where it would be

         13  difficult, if not impossible, to site conventional

         14  power technology.

         15                 Distributed fuel cell power sources

         16  improve energy reliability.  Each time a fuel cell

         17  plant is sited in New York, it will help improve the

         18  power infrastructure by increasing power reliability

         19  and energy security.  When clean technology can be

         20  provided right where the residents use the power, it

         21  reduces the need to rely on transmission lines

         22  coming into that area.

         23                 In addition, fuel cells have a proven

         24  safety record backed by generating millions of

         25  kilowatt hours at sites in the U.S. and around the
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          2  world.  In addition to being cleaner and quieter

          3  than alternatives, these, this safe operation

          4  assures that fuel cell generation will be a good

          5  long- term neighbor.

          6                 From an environmental standpoint,

          7  fuel cell generation does offer a meaningful impact

          8  on emissions reduction goals.  By example, compared

          9  to a conventional power plant generating 100

         10  megawatts of electricity, fuel cells could reduce

         11  nitrogen oxide emissions by 1,240 tons per year,

         12  sulfur dioxide by 3,250 tons a year and carbon

         13  dioxide by 387,000 tons.

         14                 Additionally, air pollution carries a

         15  cost, not just to the environment, but to public

         16  health.  Monitoring by the Environmental Protection

         17  Agency, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, shows

         18  that more than half of all U.S. citizens live in

         19  areas that exceed air quality standards for nitrogen

         20  oxide, sulfur dioxide, and particulates.

         21                 As noted in the City efforts to date,

         22  pollutants like these play a major role in creating

         23  and worsening asthma and other pulmonary diseases.

         24  Eliminating, or eliminating these emissions, which

         25  we would argue fuel cells do more effectively than
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          2  any other continuously operating technology on the

          3  market today, contributes to an overall improvement

          4  in public health.

          5                 I think, lastly, I'd like to say that

          6  fuel cells compliment other clean energy sources, as

          7  well as energy efficiency programs.  Fuel cells

          8  create clean power that can be used independently or

          9  to augment other sources like wind and solar.  Since

         10  wind and solar operate intermittently, their output

         11  must be supplemented with electricity from elsewhere

         12  when they do not run, generally by burning fossil

         13  fuels.  Fuel cell power plants, which operate 24/7,

         14  at a high level of electrical efficiency, are a

         15  perfect compliment for wind and solar resources.

         16                 In closing, FuelCell Energy looks

         17  forward to working with the City of New York to see

         18  the implementation of clean fuel cell generation

         19  resulting from its proposed survey. We appreciate

         20  the opportunity to provide these comments and are

         21  pleased to answer any questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you very

         23  much Mr. Wolak.  We appreciate your commitment to

         24  making sure that we craft legislation that will move

         25  the City forward.
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          2                 Tell me a little bit about your

          3  installation at the Sheraton Hotel and Towers.  Of

          4  course, people in political life have been to this

          5  place many, many times, but tell me a little about

          6  your installation at the Sheraton.

          7                 MR. WOLAK:  Well, it is a 250

          8  kilowatt rated unit. It sits atop the roof on a

          9  setback.  It can be seen from the entranceway, if

         10  you look up.  It is a combined heat and power

         11  application that provides thermal heating to the

         12  building, as well as the power generation.  It also

         13  provides, in the event of a power outage, for a

         14  dedicated circuit to provide additional lighting to

         15  augment emergency generation systems.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You said it's

         17  250 kilowatts.

         18                 MR. WOLAK:  Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How does that

         20  relate to the entire energy consumption of the

         21  building, like what percentage would be covered by

         22  this?

         23                 MR. WOLAK:  My recollection of the

         24  building is it approaches a two and a half megawatt

         25  peak load.  So, this would be about a ten percent,
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          2  but that's the peak load, it would be about a ten

          3  percent of the peak load, a much higher proportion

          4  of the base load of the, of the hotel's operation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.  Also,

          6  you indicated under the section of your testimony

          7  entitled, fuel cell generation offers a meaningful

          8  impact on emissions reduction goals, under that

          9  section, you indicated that fuel cells could reduce

         10  nitrogen oxide emissions by 1,240 tons per year,

         11  sulfur dioxide by 3,200 tons and CO2 by 387,000  --

         12                 MR. WOLAK:  Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Tons.  Is

         14  that based on 100 megawatts of, you know, continuous

         15  production  --

         16                 MR. WOLAK:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  A year?

         18                 MR. WOLAK:  That's a, that's a

         19  comparison showing 100 megawatts of a cross- section

         20  of the northeastern, including New York, mix of

         21  fossil fuel generation, compared with 100 megawatts

         22  of continuous output of fuel cell technology.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, thank you

         24  very much. We appreciate you being here today and

         25  we'll certainly give profound consideration to what
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          2  you've expressed here and your testimony.

          3                 MR. WOLAK:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thanks so much

          5  for being with us.  Our last witness, Anthony

          6  Pereira of altPOWER.  We're out of lawyers to swear

          7  you in.  Yes, just, I don't think this counts, but

          8  I'm going to ask you  --  I'm not empowered to

          9  administer an oath, I'm just going to ask you

         10  casually if you sworn or affirm to tell the truth,

         11  the whole truth and nothing but the truth in

         12  everything that you say before this Committee?

         13                 MR. PEREIRA:  I do.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  I don't

         15  think you're duly sworn, but it's certainly good

         16  enough for me.  I just have a policy of swearing in

         17  all the witnesses.  But, thank you, once again,

         18  Anthony, for being with us.  We appreciate your

         19  willingness to come back here time and again to

         20  speak to us.  We understand that you don't have a

         21  written statement, but we're more than happy to

         22  listen to your testimony.

         23                 MR. PEREIRA:  Actually, the written

         24  statement should be here any moment so  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, fine, fine,

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  fine.

          3                 MR. PEREIRA:  --  It will come before

          4  the end of the testimony.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

          6                 MR. PEREIRA:  Thank you again  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You bet.

          8                 MR. PEREIRA:  --  For having me

          9  testify.  I appreciate the time.  You know, I'm here

         10  representing my company, altPOWER, which is a local

         11  company that works mainly in solar and wind electric

         12  installations and also the New York Solar Energy

         13  Industries Association or NYSEIA, which is a state-

         14  wide organization of solar manufacturers,

         15  installers, engineers and electricians and also the

         16  Alliance for Clean Energy New York, which is a

         17  larger, renewable energy group, which includes wind

         18  and sustainable biomass and hydrotechnologies.  But,

         19  mainly, all these groups are distributed generation

         20  technologies.

         21                 You know, the issue mainly that we're

         22  discussing is the grid throughout New York City, the

         23  five boroughs, what the EDC can do to potentially

         24  evaluate these sites and what's needed overall for

         25  the growth of the solar industry locally, but also
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          2  to help maintain a safe and reliable grid amongst

          3  the five boroughs.

          4                 Major studies show that photovoltaic

          5  peak production in New York City's peak demand

          6  coincide.  This is something that's very hard to

          7  evaluate economically.  But, it's something that if

          8  the EDC can take a look at that, because what's

          9  happening generally is that during peak demand

         10  hours, the demand response program is initiated by

         11  the New York ISO, it tells the generators, the

         12  people that, the groups that are part of the system,

         13  to turn on their generators, which are generally

         14  diesel generators or some very polluting type of

         15  generation.  It's distributed throughout the City

         16  and these are the hottest, muggiest days with the

         17  worst air quality already.  That system is flawed

         18  because of that, we're just adding further to the

         19  non attainment of the EPA's standards for air

         20  quality for the City.

         21                 So, a study, which you're going to

         22  have a copy of, hopefully momentarily, from the

         23  State University of New York at Albany, shows that

         24  solar would be a great way to reduce pollution and

         25  also have a more reliable grid and reduce the amount
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          2  of times that we have to go into demand response, if

          3  it's allowed, to actually be considered a technology

          4  used in demand response, something that the City

          5  Council can help to push for.  We've mentioned that

          6  before.  But, also it's important that when the EDC

          7  is evaluating any kind of a site, that they're

          8  understanding it's potential as a peak shaving

          9  technology.  It's one of the best that we can offer

         10  in the City considering everything.

         11                 So, I'm really just trying to

         12  abbreviate all this, so we can move a little faster.

         13    But, you know, there have been other studies that

         14  show that, you know, New York City has more than two

         15  and a half times the amount of energy that Con Ed

         16  can even produce, falls upon it each day with just

         17  solar energy that's available.  We have to learn how

         18  to harness that better.

         19                 Other studies, specifically by the

         20  Columbia University, there was a study that 6,000

         21  megawatts of potential photovoltaic roofs already

         22  exist in New York City.  So, if those coincide with

         23  EDC sites then where they are would be important to

         24  understand.

         25                 Solar electric systems are amongst
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          2  the largest job creators of all energy technologies.

          3    So, we're talking about creating local jobs

          4  anyway.  Recently, national and solar groups around

          5  the country have looked at New York City as the next

          6  big solar market and we're looking at installing 500

          7  megawatts in the City in the next ten years.  It's a

          8  doable goal.  It would rev up to about 50 megawatts

          9  a year.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  When you say

         11  500 megawatts, is that your company or just?

         12                 MR. PEREIRA:  That would be industry-

         13  wide.  Just for New York City, though, as a goal  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Industry- wide.

         15    Just for New York City, 500  --

         16                 MR. PEREIRA:  As an attainable goal.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Megawatts.

         18                 MR. PEREIRA:  What the report from

         19  SUNY Albany shows is that 962 megawatts could be

         20  used currently to avoid demand response program

         21  kicking in so often.  It would do so cleanly, create

         22  a lot of jobs.  We're looking at that number and the

         23  overall national goal for New York State to have

         24  2,000 megawatts of power, PV power state- wide

         25  within ten years.  This is coinciding with  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  2,000 state-

          3  wide.

          4                 MR. PEREIRA:  2,000 state- wide, this

          5  coinciding with California's 3,000 megawatts in ten

          6  years and New Jersey's having 1,500 megawatts in 15

          7  years.  So, we're all within some goal together.

          8  This is attainable.  The industry's revving up in

          9  production and manufacturing and the ability to

         10  install that much has been totally proven.  So, this

         11  can happen.  It's going to rev up slowly, but the

         12  program needs to be put in place to actually set

         13  that goal.  We are just actually asking for it to be

         14  a policy issue right now and get it into the next

         15  legislative bill to help create different laws that

         16  are going to get us there, okay.

         17                 Some of the things, though, that

         18  needs to, that need to be done, clearly, with EDC is

         19  that we have to work together with NYPA, because

         20  NYPA is generally the provider of power at all these

         21  sites the EDC is already considering and working

         22  with them to understand how to get these systems

         23  installed in a very swift and easily  --  actually

         24  the testimony has just arrived  --  in a quicker way

         25  would be important.  We recently installed three
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          2  NYPA projects, one at the Queens Botanical Gardens

          3   --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Because my

          5  sense of NYPA is that where the chairman spoke here

          6  recently, as you know, he seemed quite amenable to

          7  sort of things green generally.  I feel probably

          8  pretty good about the prospects for NYPA to work

          9  with such an initiative.  Is that your sense of NYPA

         10  too?

         11                 MR. PEREIRA:  Well, the reason why

         12  I'm mentioning NYPA and also the demand response

         13  programs is because the funding already exists.  The

         14  biggest issue right now is that the renewable

         15  portfolio standard, which is the new funding program

         16  for solar in this state, which NYSERDA will manage,

         17  is underfunded.  It's $2 million a year less for the

         18  next three years than it was this current year.  It

         19  makes no sense.  The trend doesn't show that it

         20  should be going in the negative direction at all.

         21  It's a very successful program.  So, the idea now is

         22  where, where's the funding going to come from

         23  because  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Where's that

         25  money going to come from?  The money that goes into
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          2  that?

          3                 MR. PEREIRA:  Renewable portfolio

          4  standard money --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  The state does

          6  that?

          7                 MR. PEREIRA:  It's not, it's a very

          8  complicated program, but a lot of it is through the

          9  systems benefits charge, which is money that is

         10  taken off of most everyone's bill  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         12                 MR. PEREIRA:  Unfortunately, most

         13  city locations or buildings and properties and NYPA

         14  provides power for and they don't qualify for

         15  assistance benefits charge money.  That's one of the

         16  problems with trying to do any public buildings,

         17  because we're at a disadvantage, where a private

         18  sector business can, you know, get $4.00 a watt from

         19  NYSERDA, which can be up to 50 percent of the

         20  system's cost.  None of the public buildings can get

         21  that because they don't qualify for NYSERDA funding.

         22    So, it's some, it's just the way it's written.

         23  It's the way the  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         25                 MR. PEREIRA:  --  Law is and it's
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          2  hard to get that changed  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, right,

          4  right.

          5                 MR. PEREIRA:  --  So where do we go

          6  for other funding?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, this is why

          8  NYPA isn't doing more solar in New York City because

          9  of this?

         10                 MR. PEREIRA:  Well, whenever NYPA

         11  does it, it's trying to find funding.  I mean, from

         12  my understandings and the chairman can, you know,

         13  definitely tell you, they're somewhere in a billion

         14  dollars per year in revenue.  So, the question is,

         15  could they earmark some specifically for solar

         16  within the five boroughs to help us with the

         17  reliability issue of the grid and inclusive issue

         18  and, you know, and should, it's something that can

         19  be politically ordered, from what I believe, because

         20  it's a state authority.

         21                 So, it's something we're asking for

         22  because we need the funding from somewhere and it

         23  seems like that there's a likely agency to do it.

         24  When they needed to put the distributed power, the

         25  gas generator around town, they did that pretty
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          2  swiftly when they needed to and now we're talking

          3  about something more and better and more importantly

          4  for other reasons.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, because

          6  they're the ones that had to come forward and ask

          7  for all those peaking plants and right.

          8                 MR. PEREIRA:  Solar can be peaking

          9  plants.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And that got

         11  done, right.

         12                 MR. PEREIRA:  That's what we're

         13  saying.  Also, the demand response program, the ISO,

         14  there's funds there for folks to be ready to turn on

         15  their generators.  So, they're getting paid per kw

         16  to just be available every month and sometimes they

         17  don't have to turn on.  That money is available

         18  right now through the program, but solar

         19  technologies can't qualify for that funding.

         20                 So, if they were allowed, that money

         21  already exists.  They could go and tap into that and

         22  we could do that and it would be most beneficial,

         23  from all the stuff I've attached and all the

         24  exhibits and so on in the report, you'll see that

         25  there's a lot of strong evidence.  They've looked at
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          2  the amount of solar energy hitting New York City on

          3  specific days and then overlap that with the demand

          4  for power within Con Edison's grid.  They show where

          5  the grid demand is and that the solar peak

          6  generation is at its highest at those times and

          7  parallel.  It's a great, great opportunity for us to

          8  really resolve a lot of the issues we've been

          9  suffering from.

         10                 You know, that's a summary of the

         11  whole thing. So, there's a lot of exhibits that I've

         12  attached onto there.  I mean, some of the policy

         13  issues we're looking to get involved with, but, you

         14  know, I know it's off the context a little bit with

         15  what's going on with the EDC, but some of these will

         16  actually help the EDC be able to install systems.

         17  For instance, the first one, under the What is

         18  Needed continued page, commercial PV system net

         19  metering.  This is something that's not allowed.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Where is that

         21  now?

         22                 MR. PEREIRA:  You would be on page,

         23  sorry  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We got it.

         25                 MR. PEREIRA:  --  Fifth page.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Commercial PV

          3  system net metering.  That's what you're saying?

          4                 MR. PEREIRA:  Right.  Right now, New

          5  York State has a net metering law, but it's only for

          6  residential systems under ten kw.  Now, New York

          7  City, in particular, because we have a network grid,

          8  you're not allowed to export power anyway, so it's a

          9  different issue.  But, overall, state- wide, it's

         10  something that, it's a policy that, that really

         11  needs to be pushed in and, you know, anything that

         12  can be done locally to help get that established

         13  would be great.

         14                 Commercial PV systems sales tax

         15  exemption.  That's something that the City Council

         16  passed for the residential systems, but it's not for

         17  commercial systems.

         18                 Overall pressure to PSC to follow the

         19  statutes when developing interconnection rules.  A

         20  lot of the interconnection rules don't actually

         21  follow the statutes.  It's been identified and

         22  there's evidence of that and there's already some

         23  work by the Attorney General's office, from what I

         24  understand, looking at this.

         25                 Eliminate engineering review charges
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          2  from utilities to commercial systems.  This would

          3  happen in an EDC or NYPA project, actually.  So,

          4  NYPA or altPOWER, to Con Edison for a commercial PV

          5  interconnection system, okay.  We've got a big

          6  document we fill out.  It has all the information on

          7  the system, a drawing that's stamped by a licensed

          8  electrical engineer.  It goes to Con Ed and when

          9  they review it, they actually tally their time in

         10  engineering fees and bill you hourly and it's never

         11  really clear what that cost is going to be.  It's

         12  substantial.  It's usually a few thousand dollars, a

         13  couple thousand dollars, minimum.

         14                 You know, that's a lot of energy in

         15  the first year that a PV system could create

         16  somewhere around the City.  So, it's something that

         17  it seems like the utilities should be doing because

         18  it's to basically protect, they're reviewing it, in

         19  essence, to see how it affects their grid.  So, it

         20  should be something on their cost side.

         21                 Work to make interconnection rules

         22  more logical considering advantages of PV systems to

         23  provide power in Con Edison's territory.  One of the

         24  ones that falls into also with the EDC is to

         25  initiate a third- party review of the network grid.
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          2  So often, you know, you're told you can't produce

          3  more power than the building can consume.  That

          4  means you're going to export into the network grid.

          5  You're going to trip a network protector.

          6                 It's been identified that there are

          7  locations within network grids that this is

          8  possible.  We've asked this before, a third- party

          9  review and initiated by the EDC, where they said,

         10  hey, you know, we could do JFK Airport and put five,

         11  ten megawatts in or LaGuardia or some of the piers

         12  along the, along the river.  Multi- megawatt systems

         13  that could provide grid support during high peak

         14  times, who can look at that and say, yeah, that's

         15  actually allowable and it won't affect the grid in

         16  the negative way, it will only be a good thing?  Who

         17  could look at that  --  right now, I understand that

         18  the PSC ordered Con Edison to review it themselves,

         19  but we, we're asking for a third party review of

         20  that and perhaps it can be initiated through the CDC

         21  program.

         22                 Then, streamline the DOB and BEC

         23  permitting process.  Right now, you've heard before

         24  that there are some added layers to doing a system

         25  in New York City sure that could be simplified in
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          2  many ways.  It's more of a longer discussion, I

          3  think, over time, with the DOB and the BEC, but that

          4  can definitely be something that needs to be done

          5  over time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          7  Thank you so much.  It's always, I seem to get more

          8  out of your testimony each time you come before the

          9  Committee and I do appreciate that.  You have some

         10  new ideas here, there are some, some reiteration of

         11  things that you've said before that are starting to

         12  sink in a little bit.  I appreciate the opportunity

         13  of you coming here. Staff and I will go over your

         14  testimony in more detail to glean from it some good

         15  ideas that we can use.  We appreciate you coming

         16  here again.

         17                 MR. PEREIRA:  Sure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         19                 MR. PEREIRA:  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thanks a lot.

         21  With no one else wishing to be heard, this Hearing

         22  is adjourned.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 3:15 p.m.)
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